# Nos. 24-CV-23, 24-CV-0685



IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS Clerk of the Court

LS Clerk of the Court Received 10/21/2024 03:55 PM

# ELIZABETH GALVIN,

# APPELLANT,

v.

# RUPPERT NURSERIES, INC.,

# APPELLEE.

On Appeal from the Superior Court for the District of Columbia, Civil Division in Case No. 2020 CA 000445 B (Honorable Donald W. Tunnage, Judge)

# CORRECTED APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Paul A. Cunningham<sup>\*</sup> (D.C. Bar No. 263210) Neill C. Kling (*Pro Hac Vice*) HARKINS CUNNINGHAM LLP 1750 K Street, N.W., Suite 300 Washington, D.C. 20006-3804 pac@harkinscunningham.com (202) 973-7600

Counsel for Appellant Elizabeth W. Galvin

\*Counsel expected to argue

#### I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Appellant Elizabeth Galvin ("Ms. Galvin") seeks review of the D.C. Superior Court (the "Trial Court") decision disposing of all issues and claims of the parties in case 2020 CA 000445 B. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1). The Trial Court had jurisdiction pursuant to D.C. Code §§ 11-921(a), 28-3905(k)(1)(A), (k)(2) over Appellee Ruppert Nurseries, Inc. ("RN") and Ms. Galvin.

#### **II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

A. Whether the Trial Court erred as a matter of law in its treatment of Ms.
Galvin's claims under the D.C. Consumer Protection Procedures Act ("CPPA"), D.C.
Code § 28-3901 *et seq.* by ruling that:

1. A consumer's state of mind and contractual goals are the proper subject of a court's CPPA analysis rather than a merchant's trade practices as viewed and understood by a reasonable consumer;

2. A merchant is not required truthfully to disclose and represent what a reasonable consumer needs to "make informed choices" about a merchant's goods or services because the CPPA provides merchants with "considerable discretion" to decide what disclosures to make to consumers;

3. A consumer's burden to prove liability and damages for unintentional misrepresentations and omissions that violate the CPPA is "clear and convincing evidence" rather than "a preponderance of the evidence";

1

4. A contractual statement of "no warranty" obviates a consumer's CPPA claims;

5. A qualified expert's unrebutted conclusion can be disregarded because specific scientific evidence the Trial Court deems "dispositive" is not presented; and

6. Proof of CPPA liability, which would entitle a consumer to an award of attorney's fees and statutory and punitive damages, requires proof of actual damages.
B. Whether, if this Court finds the Trial Court erred as a matter of law regarding one or more of Ms. Galvin's CPPA claims, it can determine without further Trial Court action that (a) RN is liable for its violations of the CPPA, and (b) RN's violation constitutes a rescission of the contract.

**C.** Whether the Trial Court erred as a matter of law in its treatment of the parties' contractual claims by:

1. Holding that a merchant can fulfill its contractual obligations without adhering to obligations specified in a contractually incorporated document; and

2. Holding that a merchant can prevail on a breach of contract claim when it repudiates the contract by failing to provide adequate assurance of performance.

**D.** Whether the Trial Court erred as a matter of law in failing to resolve all material issues, including several of Ms. Galvin's distinct CPPA and contract claims.

2

**E.** Whether the Trial Court erred as a matter of law in its treatment of Ms. Galvin's implied warranty of merchantability claims by *sua sponte* applying an inferred metric of merchantability not raised at trial ("alive after one year"), rather than the statutory ordinary purpose inquiry, to weigh her claims.

**F.** Whether the Trial Court (a) erred as a matter of law by denying Ms. Galvin's Motion for Reconsideration and Other Relief solely because Ms. Galvin "merely seeks to re-litigate issues already addressed by the Court"; and (b) abused its discretion by denying her Motion to Clarify Pursuant to Rule 52(a)(1).

**G.** Whether the Trial Court made findings of fact that were clearly erroneous, plainly wrong, or without evidentiary support.

#### **III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On July 1, 2020, RN (a merchant) and Ms. Galvin (a consumer) entered a written contract (the "Contract") for her to pay RN \$345,800 to provide goods and services related to RN's transplanting of six trees (the "Trees")<sup>1</sup> from several locations to her residence (the "Property"). JA<sup>2</sup> 2075–81. The Trees were to fulfill their agreed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Trees were three southern magnolias (the "Magnolias," and individually, a "Magnolia"), a cryptomeria (the "Cryptomeria"), a hemlock (the "Hemlock"), and a dogwood (the "Dogwood"). JA 2075–81. Another tree, a long-established Norway Maple (the "Maple") on the Property, died because RN failed to observe basic tree protection measures for established trees. *See infra* pp. 21–22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> All references to the Joint Appendix ("JA") are to the JA page number. Citations to transcripts will be to the JA page number with the relevant line numbers. The witness is identified in parentheses thereafter. Citations to docket entries are designated by the name of that filing with the date identified in parentheses thereafter.

evergreen screening objectives (the "Project"), which aimed to restore the privacy screening for her elegantly landscaped Property. RN finished transplanting the Trees on July 23, 2020, *id.*, and "handed over" the Trees to Ms. Galvin's care on July 31, 2020, JA 152:14–16 (Lewis). The Trees immediately showed signs of distress. Ms. Galvin withheld payment of the Contract balance pending RN's assurance that it performed under the Contract. JA 2443–45. At no point during or after contracting did RN advise Ms. Galvin of any but one of the conditions posing challenges to the Project. None of the Trees provide the evergreen screening for which Ms. Galvin bargained.

RN sued Ms. Galvin for breach of contract. Compl. (Oct. 22, 2020). Ms. Galvin filed mandatory counterclaims alleging breach of contract, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, breach of the implied warranty of merchantability, and violations of §§ 28-3904(a), (d), (e), and (f) of the CPPA. Answer and Countercl. (Dec. 22, 2020). She later amended the counterclaim twice: in July 2021 to include identical claims regarding the dead or dying Hemlock and Cryptomeria, Am. Answer to Am. Compl. (July 22, 2021),<sup>3</sup> and in May 2022 to allege RN violated the CPPA by not informing Ms. Galvin that its digging for the Cryptomeria could damage, and eventually kill, her long-established Maple Tree, JA 054–080.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In November 2021, Ms. Galvin moved for summary judgment which the Trial Court denied on February 17, 2022, citing material facts still in dispute. JA 030–050.

The Trial Court conducted a bench trial between June 5, 2023, and June 14, 2023. The parties submitted proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law,<sup>4</sup> made oral argument, and, at the Trial Court's request, filed post-trial briefing <sup>5</sup> on the "experienced user exception" ("EUE"). <sup>6</sup> The Trial Court orally announced its opinion (the "Opinion") on September 27, 2023. JA 1723–51. It found for RN on its claim and Ms. Galvin's counter claims, except for finding that RN breached its implied warranty of merchantability regarding the Dogwood.<sup>7</sup> JA 1745:12–24.

Prior to the Trial Court's judgment (the "Judgment"), Ms. Galvin filed a praecipe noting a recent D.C. Superior Court decision on the CPPA's burden of proof. Def.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Before the final day of trial, the Trial Court had advised the parties that they would have an opportunity for post-trial briefing. JA 415:8–17; JA 612:25–613:8. But the Trial Court stated on the last day of trial that it instead only wanted proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law with no case citations. JA 1544:1–18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Ms. Galvin sought, *inter alia*, to discuss the law of warranty suggested by RN and the Trial Court. Def. Renewed Mot. for Leave to File Rebuttal, Att. A at 14–20 (Aug. 25, 2023). The Trial Court denied her motion to file that briefing. JA 1726:1–2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Trial Court, *sua sponte*, brought this issue to the parties' attention, stating the EUE "may be dispositive of this case." JA 1714:15–1717:1. Ms. Galvin's briefing "convinced the Court" that applying the EUE to her CPPA claims was "not appropriate." JA 1726:18–23. The EUE inquiry suggested the Trial Court believed CPPA claimants had to prove a merchant has a duty to warn independent of the CPPA's disclosure requirements, *see* JA 1714:22–1715:12, a belief that later manifested as an error of law in the Opinion, *see infra* p. 47 note 65.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Trial Court sought additional briefing to determine how to assess the damages RN owed to Ms. Galvin for the Dogwood. JA 1746:2–9. RN proposed deducting the contractual \$2,900 cost of the Dogwood from RN's damages award, Praecipe Regarding Entry of J. (Sept. 29, 2023); Ms. Galvin claimed RN owed her the replacement cost of the Dogwood, attaching an affidavit with reasonable estimates of that cost. Def. Resp. to Pl. Praecipe for J. (Oct. 6, 2023).

Praecipe (Nov. 15, 2023). On December 7, 2023, the Trial Court entered Judgment, ordering Ms. Galvin to pay RN \$578,171.15 for the remaining balance of the Contract (minus RN's proposed \$2,900 deduction for the Dogwood), attorneys' fees, experts' fees, costs, and interest. JA 1752–53. The Trial Court ignored Ms. Galvin's praecipe. *Id.* Ms. Galvin timely appealed the Judgment on January 8, 2024.

On January 4, 2024, Ms. Galvin sought reconsideration and amendment of the Judgment and clarification of the Opinion to satisfy the requirements of Sup. Ct. R. Civ. P. 52(a)(1). JA 1754–85.<sup>8</sup> The Trial Court denied her motions on June 27, 2024. JA 1814–16. Ms. Galvin timely appealed that decision on July 26, 2024. This Court consolidated her appeals.

#### **IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

### A. Ms. Galvin's Evergreen Screening Inquiry and RN's Failure to Disclose the Challenges Involved

On or about March 15, 2020, Ms. Galvin inquired about services to restore the evergreen screening on her densely planted and elegantly landscaped Property. JA 1886, 2058–59, 2465. She placed great value on restoring the screening of her Property and had high expectations and standards for a landscape contractor's performance. JA 1380:8–1382:25 (Galvin). She contacted RN, a subsidiary of a \$300 million landscape conglomerate, JA 475:20–476:8 (Ruppert), that represented

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The Trial Court stayed the Judgment after Ms. Galvin posted adequate security. Order Approving an Irrevocable Letter of Credit as Security (May 1, 2024).

it was capable of meeting her goals, JA 2245–47 (RN website representing that RN "has a track record of effectively attending to the many details necessary to perform services cost consciously, meticulously and with a personal touch not found elsewhere.")

Joe Proskine, a certified arborist (who died in December 2020), was RN's lead on the Project. JA 137:18–25, 138:12–139:2 (Lewis). Ms. Galvin met Mr. Proskine on March 31, 2020, to discuss her evergreen screening objective. JA 1890. Mr. Proskine, in an April 20, 2020 email headed "Screening trees to back of property," suggested that a cryptomeria and magnolias would fit the purpose. JA 1892.

As planning proceeded, Ms. Galvin emailed Holt Jordan, an independent contractor guiding the Project's aesthetics, JA 993:18–19, 994:23–995:13 (Jordan), and Mr. Proskine on June 5, 2020, asking if she should "be concerned about the timing re[garding] the new heat." JA 2061–63. Mr. Proskine, replying only to Mr. Jordan, said the then-intended late June or early July transplant was "the time [RN] want[ed] to install the Magnolia to allow the most time to root" and noted the other Trees would "do fine with summer digging and proper maintenance." JA 2065. He did not identify any challenges to the Project. *Id*.

The next day, Mr. Proskine emailed Ms. Galvin that the "[t]iming of the work does not concern [RN]," because "[t]he Magnolia's [sic] thrive in this kind of weather" and the other Trees would "transplant well with proper care before and after planting." JA 2068.<sup>9</sup> Ms. Galvin relied on this statement as "unequivocal assurance" that there was no elevated risk to summer planting and the Trees would transplant successfully given the stated weather and Property conditions. JA 1516:8–18 (Galvin). Later that day, Mr. Proskine provided Ms. Galvin with RN's proposal. JA 2303–05. He thanked her "for the opportunity to quote [her] on the work screening [her] property." JA 2303. He made a more formal proposal on June 12, 2020. JA 2298–2301.

After Ms. Galvin questioned the feasibility of Project logistics, *cf.* JA 1069:3–1070:16 (Norris), Howie Burrill, RN's logistics person, JA 244:18–24 (Burrill), visited the Property on June 24, 2020, JA 1072:21–1073:3 (Norris). His statement that the Project could not be executed within the time frame proposed by Mr. Proskine caused Ms. Galvin great concern regarding the Project's coordination with neighbors, diplomatic properties, and governing bodies. JA 1074:9–24 (Norris). After that conversation, Mr. Burrill told Craig Ruppert, RN's CEO, that he did not wish to pursue the Project. JA 249:6–9 (Burrill). Despite that objection, Mr. Ruppert decided that RN would go forward. JA 249:22–250:8 (Burrill).

The next day, Mr. Ruppert called Ms. Galvin (whom he knew personally), JA 1406:2–3 (Galvin), to discuss her concerns about the Project. JA 492:15–493:7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Trial testimony showed landscape contractors try to avoid the risks of summer planting. *See* JA 1150:4–1152:6, 1153:8–1155:7, 1177:13–1178:2 (Mourlas). Even RN recognizes those risks by charging more for summer transplanting, JA 2246, which it did not charge to Ms. Galvin, JA 481:20–482:23 (Ruppert).

(Ruppert). He assured her that RN would make every effort to assure the purposes of the Contract. JA 493:17–22 (Ruppert). Ms. Galvin's experts established that RN could make such an assertion only if this statement was based on sound analysis, but RN had conducted no such analysis. *Infra* pp. 18–19.

On June 29, 2020, RN presented two new proposals: one with and one without a \$157,900 "1 year 1 time 1 mobilization replacement warranty" (the "Warranty"). JA 2287–88, 2290–2292. It was limited to a replacement of plant materials, excluded "activities out of [RN's] control," and allowed RN to contest Ms. Galvin's postmaintenance care of the Trees. JA 2291. On July 1, 2020, at Mr. Lewis' suggestion, Ms. Galvin called Mr. Ruppert to discuss the proposals. *See* JA 1410:13–23 (Galvin). Mr. Ruppert told her that he would not take the Warranty because "the risk of loss" was "less than the cost of the warranty." JA 496:15–497:16 (Ruppert). Relying on RN's cumulative assurances of the Project's success, Ms. Galvin declined to purchase the Warranty. JA 1411:24–1412:5 (Galvin). RN sent Ms. Galvin the final proposal entitled "Galvin Evergreen Screening No Warranty";<sup>10</sup> it provided "[n]o warranty on plant materials supplied and installed by Ruppert Nurseries as part of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The Contract and every prior RN proposal included "Galvin Evergreen Screening" in the header, demonstrating the parties' mutual purpose was evergreen screening. Even RN's expert realized that purpose. JA 857:20–22 (Schwartz) ("Obviously, I understand that it was to screen. Why else would [RN] be [] planting evergreens of that size?"); *see also* JA 138:1–5 (Lewis).

this contract." JA 2074–2081. Ms. Galvin signed the Contract and paid a deposit. JA 145:7–11 (Lewis).

# **B.** The Evergreen Screening Contract

To meet the parties' agreed purpose of evergreen screening, the Contract required RN to provide and transplant the Trees<sup>11</sup> and stated that "[a]ll work shall be in accordance with the Landscape Specification Guidelines for the Baltimore Washington Metropolitan Area – 5<sup>th</sup> edition" (the "LSGs").<sup>12</sup> The LSGs require RN to "qualify[] [its] proposal to document any plant suitability or availability problems," JA 2359,<sup>13</sup> comply with basic industry practices to protect established trees on the Property, JA 2389–93,<sup>14</sup> and prepare the Trees for transplanting by pruning their roots well before transplantation, JA 2380.<sup>15</sup> The LSGs also provide that "[i]t is safe

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> RN charges included \$50,000 for each of two 30-foot Magnolias, \$44,000 for a third 25 to 26-foot Magnolia, \$56,000 for a 30-foot Cryptomeria, \$2,900 each for a 12 to 14-foot Dogwood and a 10 to 12-foot Hemlock, and \$140,000 for RN's use of a 500-ton crane. JA 2075. RN's typical markup was 50% of its costs, but RN charged Ms. Galvin a 794% and 68% markup for the Magnolias and the crane operation, respectively. *See* Def.'s Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ("DPFFCL") at ¶¶ 31–32 (July 31, 2023); *see also* JA 1174:3–12 (Mourlas) (Non-RN landscape contractor described RN's markup as "exorbitant").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Throughout the Project, RN "held [itself] out to perform in accordance with these [LSG] standards." JA 199:10–12 (Lewis).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Mr. Lewis and Mr. Burrill conceded at trial that RN did not conduct a suitability assessment prior to transplant. JA 170:6–14 (Lewis), 368:16–19 (Burrill).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> One of Ms. Galvin's experts explained that RN took no measures to protect the established Maple on her Property. *Infra* p. 21. RN provided no contrary evidence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Root pruning, which the LSGs state "shall be done before planting or during the planting operation," JA 2364, can mitigate the risks of digging and transplanting

to plant year round *if* certain criteria are followed. Plant material moved out of the normal planting season may require special treatment."<sup>16</sup> JA 2360 (emphasis added). Neither RN nor the LSGs informed Ms. Galvin what "certain criteria" and "special treatment" entail. Aside from recognizing that shade could reduce the screening capacity of the Trees over time, the Contract identified no challenges to the success of the Project. RN sourced the Magnolias from a grower located in Florida. JA 147:8–10 (Lewis). The rest of the Trees were sourced locally. JA 150:18–151:1 (Lewis). RN represented through photographs to Ms. Galvin that the Trees would satisfy the agreed evergreen screening purpose. JA 2249 (Dogwood), 2252 (Cryptomeria), 2255 (Hemlock), 2267 (Magnolias), 2307–09 (Magnolias).

RN began the final stage of transplanting the Trees on July 20, 2020, and finished on July 23, 2020. JA 2079–80. The Contract required RN to care for the Trees for eight days and then hand over maintenance to Ms. Galvin consistent with their advice in the Contract. *Id.* After the handover on July 31, 2020, RN was to monitor the Trees for six more weeks and generate weekly reports for Ms. Galvin that included any further care recommendations. *Id.* 

trees, JA 924:4–14 (Dahle). Mr. Burrill, who provided the only RN testimony regarding root pruning, stated that he did not root prune the Cryptomeria. JA 391:8–392:12 (Burrill).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> That LSG provision advised RN to consult "a professional horticulturist, nursery professional, or arborist . . . to determine the proper time, based on plant species and weather conditions, to move and install particular plant material to minimize stress to the plant." JA 2360. There is no evidence RN made such a consultation.

#### C. The Trees' Rapid Decline

On August 7, 2020, Ms. Galvin noticed considerable leaf shedding from each Magnolia. JA 1936. RN had not advised her to expect such shedding. Id; JA 2282. Mr. Proskine responded to Ms. Galvin's inquiry about the shedding in an August 11, 2020 email by downplaying the leaf volume that had dropped and reassuring her that such droppage was due to "cooler ground temperature . . . and water moving [through] soil." JA 2195. In an August 12, 2020 email to RN, Ms. Galvin wrote that the "possibility, or significance, of leaf drop" had never been disclosed by RN and that "the plants or the planting was not what [they] had agreed to" and asked to speak directly to the Magnolias' grower. JA 2198–99. Kelly Lewis, RN's general manager, did not put her in contact with the grower and replied that he did not believe the Trees were "at high risk of failure." He represented that RN had and would continue "to do everything [it] [could] to give these living trees the best chance for survival and to fulfil [sic] your expectations" and would "live and serve the purpose for which you intend[ed]." Id. Instead, during the August monitoring period, RN gathered "evidence" about the rainfall and drainage on the Property later used in litigation to deflect responsibility,<sup>17</sup> JA 449:23–450:24 (Burrill), and asserted that unforeseeable

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> This evidence was not provided to Ms. Galvin, and therefore could only be of assistance to RN. JA 449:23–454:1 (Burrill).

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