RULE 28(a)(2) STATEMENT OF COUNSEL 
 
The undersigned counsel for Appellee certifies that the following listed parties 
appeared below: 
 
 Appellant 
 
 Elizabeth Galvin 
  
  Represented in the Superior Court and in this Court by: 
 
  Paul A. Cunningham, Esq. 
  Neill C. Kling, Esq. 
  Seann M. Aasen, Esq. 
  Harkins Cunningham LLP   
  1750 K Street, N.W. Suite 300 
  Washington, D.C. 20006-3804 
 
 
 Appellee 
   
 Ruppert Nurseries 
 
  Represented in the Superior Court and in this Court by:  
    
  William A. Goldberg, Esq.          
  Lerch, Early & Brewer, Chtd.   
  7600 Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 700       
  Bethesda, Maryland 20814

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

delivery and installation of six trees...” (JA 1732) is not clearly erroneous and 

cannot be reversed.  Lynch, 319 A.2d at 1013 (“[w]here there are two permissible 

views of the evidence, the factfinder's choice between them cannot be clearly 

erroneous.”).  Ruppert never promised a result, nor could it.  “Evergreen 

Screening” is, at best, a non-actionable “aspirational sentiment,” not an outcome 

“capable of measurement.”  Meta Platforms, 301 A.3d at 759.  

Second, Galvin ignores that she and her agents agreed with Ruppert that the 

trees selected, if they remained healthy, were evergreen (as opposed to deciduous) 

trees that could provide a screen.8  Indeed, Galvin had multiple existing Southern 

Magnolias on her property, and the nursery representative who supplied them 

testified that the nursery supplies those very trees to locations throughout the 

northeastern United States.  (JA 2135)  The other three trees were grown locally.  

The fact that some of the trees failed to thrive does not mean Ruppert 

misrepresented that the trees possessed (or lacked) certain qualities that everybody 

                                           
8  In other words, “evergreen” was used to describe the types of trees to be 
installed, i.e., to differentiate them from deciduous trees, not as a measure of time. 
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agreed at the outset they did, the ability to provide a screen if properly cared for.  

Again, counsel for Galvin admitted that she assumed the risk that the trees could 

fail, in which case there would not be the desired screen. (JA 1947-48) 

(b) Section 3904 (e) and (f)9 
 

Galvin argues that Ruppert violated the CPPA by “misrepresenting the 

extent and quality of the services it would provide, [and] the material risks of 

planting the trees in July”; and [by] omitting “that its assurances regarding the 

Project’s success were not based on sound analysis.”  (App. Br. at 15) 

First, as to Galvin’s claim that Ruppert misrepresented “the extent and 

quality of the services it would provide,” Galvin is merely rehashing the same 

claim that Ruppert promised Galvin “evergreen screening” but that she did not get 

it, ipso facto, violating the CPPA.  Again, this claim fails because, among other 

things, the Contract did not require Ruppert to meet some subjective satisfactory 

level of screening, and the trees that Galvin’s team and Ruppert co-selected are 

commonly used for the precise type of screening Galvin claims to have desired, 

evidenced by the multiple existing Southern Magnolias on her property. (JA 637) 

 Second, Galvin’s claim that Ruppert violated the CPPA by failing to inform 

Galvin “that its assurances regarding the Project’s success were not based on sound 

                                           
9  CPPA § 28-3094(e) makes it illegal to “misrepresent as to a material fact 
which has a tendency to mislead....” § 28-3904(f) makes it illegal to “fail to state a 
material fact if such failure tends to mislead...” 
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analysis...” (App. Br. at 10), is meritless.  As articulated in footnote 13 of her 

brief, Galvin argues that Ruppert failed to conduct some unspecified suitability 

analysis and/or failed to inform Galvin that it was not performing such an analysis.  

But Galvin obfuscates that the source of the purported requirement to conduct a 

suitability analysis arises out of a statement in the LSG that state a contractor 

should “qualify[] [its] proposal to document any plant suitability or availability 

problems.” (emphasis supplied) (JA 1828)  Thus, Galvin’s formulation of the 

alleged omission assumes the conclusion: the existence of a suitability problem, 

which she simply declares is the case, ignoring all the evidence showing that there 

was none.  The trees installed were either native to Maryland or, with respect to the 

Magnolias, six to seven already existed on her property.  (JA 548) 

To the extent that Galvin argues that Ruppert did not perform any testing or 

analysis, that is false. Among other things, it is undisputed that Ruppert performed 

a percolation test to ensure that the soil in the planting sites was draining properly 

and otherwise used its experience to judge whether the transplant was appropriate. 

(JA 200-01)  Galvin’s use of the term “suitability,” lifted out of context from the 

LSG to blame Ruppert for her decision to decline a warranty, does not overcome 

the evidence showing that the trees were appropriate for the project.  The fact that 

some failed to thrive does not mean they were not suitable or that Ruppert 

misrepresented anything.  In that vein, Galvin has no answer to the evidence that 
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the Florida nursery that supplied the Magnolias that Ruppert installed routinely 

sells the precise same Magnolias to areas north of Washington, D.C., and that those 

trees do well (JA 2135) negating any claim that the Magnolias at issue were not 

“suitable” for this climate. 

Third, Galvin unsuccessfully claims that Ruppert violated the CPPA by 

failing to advise her of the purported risks of planting trees in July.  Galvin is 

wrong because after hearing all this evidence, Judge Tunnage made a specific 

factual finding that there was a risk, but that it had been disclosed both by Ruppert 

and in the LSG, in context of Ruppert’s ability to mitigate it. (JA 1745)  Because 

there was evidence supporting this specific factual finding, it cannot be clearly 

erroneous.  Lynch, 319 A.2d at 1013 (“[w]here there are two permissible views of 

the evidence, the factfinder’s choice between them cannot be clearly erroneous.”). 

There is ample evidence supporting Judge Tunnage’s factual finding. 

Indeed, it is uncontested that the parties discussed the method of mitigating the risk 

of summer planting, most prominently in the email exchange culminating in Joe 

Proskine’s June 5, 2020 email.  That email responded to Galvin’s inquiry regarding 

a possible risk of planting trees in the summer heat. (JA 1899)  Responding to 

Galvin’s inquiry by discussing the mitigation of risk, including the need for proper 
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care and maintenance, the Court found that the risk had been disclosed.10   In 

addition, Judge Tunnage relied on the LSG, which state that trees can be installed 

year round if certain criteria are followed and further states that “[c]ontainer-

grown...material can be planted year-round, provided it receives adequate irrigation 

for the first growing season.” (JA 1830)   

Implicit in Judge Tunnage’s findings is the obvious: there would be no need 

to mention “proper care” and “proper maintenance” or no need for the LSG to cite 

“certain criteria” if there were no risk.  Indeed, these statements necessarily imply 

the existence of some risk, and also, the fact that this risk can be mitigated, an 

obvious proposition that experts on both sides testified to.  (Ruppert expert Jeff 

Schwartz) (JA 818) (“Q. And, sir, you understand that large tree transplantation 

happens across the DMV in the summer frequently, correct? A. Yes.  Again, if we 

could control the schedule of every project, it [would] be a wonderful thing....And 

so in our experience, it’s not so much that you can’t plant this time or that time, 

that’s just a fact of our business.  And then you work – you work towards that goal 

and what needs to be done to make it successful.”); (Galvin expert) (JA 767) (“Q. 

                                           
10  Proskine wrote: “Timing of this work does not concern us.  The Magnolia’s 
[sic] thrive in this kind of weather.  All the others will transplant well with proper 
care before and after planting.” (JA 1901)  On the same day, before sending this 
email to Galvin, Joe Proskine wrote to Holt Jordan and said “As far as time of 
planting, this is the time we want to install the Magnolia [sic] to allow most time to 
root.  Others will do fine with summer digging and proper maintenance.  We 
would want to make sure that irrigation is up and running as we finish.”  (JA 2064)   
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And you recognize, ma’am, do you not, that there – there’s another school of 

thought in the arborist community that says with the right precautions, you 

absolutely can [transplant trees in July]?  You understand that, that that school of 

thought exists, right?  A. Of course.”).  This evidence supports Judge Tunnage’s 

finding of fact and thus the finding cannot be clearly erroneous. 

What Galvin appears to be claiming, however, is that Ruppert (and Judge 

Tunnage) are substantively wrong, and that any claim that the risk of summer 

planting can be mitigated, is objectively, verifiably, and immutably false – so much 

so that any claim to the contrary is, ipso facto, a CPPA violation.   (App. Br. at 39) 

(“[h]ad it considered the consumer’s perspective...the Trial Court could not have 

found that stating summer planting is safe adequately discloses the challenges 

presented by summer planting.”).  But the documentary evidence contradicted that 

argument, and even Galvin’s experts testified that summer tree planting is 

reasonable (JA 2041) (“[c]ontainer-grown Southern Magnolias can be planted 

successfully any time of year.”) (JA 1158) (“Q. A reasonable landscape contractor 

could ... read [LSG] Section 1.12 it is safe to plant year round if certain criteria are 

followed, and they could reasonably rely on this objective criteria, correct? A. I 

would say yes.”) (Galvin expert Christopher Mourlas)   

Moreover, to the extent that Galvin’s CPPA claim merely posits that 

Ruppert (and in particular Joe Proskine) trivialized what is a far larger risk than it 
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disclosed, this argument fails because to prevail under § 28-3904(f) “a plaintiff 

must establish...that a defendant failed to make a required disclosure.”   Saucier v. 

Countrywide Home Loans, 64 A.3d 428, 442 (D.C. 2013) (emphasis added). Here, 

Judge Tunnage was entitled to rely on the expert evidence supporting Ruppert’s 

claim that informing a customer of the purported extreme hazard of summer 

planting is not “required,” because there is no consensus that such extreme hazard 

exists.  (Galvin expert) (JA 767)  Indeed the evidence on this topic demonstrated 

that any small quantum of risk that does exist can be mitigated easily.   

Indeed, Ruppert’s expert testified that Proskine’s June 5 email appropriately 

responded to Galvin’s inquiry because it was factually accurate, and that there is 

no professional standard of care that would have required any other response to an 

inquiry regarding summer planting. (JA 823-25)  Judge Tunnage was entitled to 

rely on the evidence that Proksine provided factually accurate information and thus 

there was no CPPA violation. Saucier, 64 A.3d at 443 (“a reasonable consumer 

generally would not deem an accurate statement to be misleading, and hence, such 

statement generally would not be actionable under § 28-3904(e) and (f)”).   

CPPA § 28-3904 (e) and (f) proscribe misrepresentations or omissions of 

“facts” and it is simply not a fact, and certainly not one that can be shown by clear 

and convincing evidence, that Ruppert downplayed the risk of summer planting so 

much that it was misleading.  Indeed, Galvin’s claim boils down to the argument 
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that Judge Tunnage weighed the evidence on this topic incorrectly by crediting 

Ruppert’s presentation over hers.  But this is not the proper basis for an appeal.   

Murray, 765 A.2d at 984 (Court of Appeals “may not substitute itself for the trier 

of fact who heard, received and weighed the evidence.”). 

Judge Tunnage relied on evidence to find that Ruppert adequately disclosed 

the risk of summer planting and that it could be mitigated.  His finding of these 

specific facts is not clearly erroneous and thus cannot be reversed. 

2. Alternatively, the Court Can Affirm the Judgment by 
Finding that Risk of Summer Planting is Not Material 
and Thus There Was No CPPA violation. 

 
Alternative to Judge Tunnage’s finding that there was a disclosed risk of 

summer planting, there exists ample evidence on the record from which the Court 

could affirm Judge Tunnage’s decision that there was no CPPA violation, by 

finding that the risk of summer planting was not material.   Segreti, 193 A.3d at 

760 (“[t]his court may affirm a decision for reasons other than those given by the 

trial court.”).  This evidence includes the testimony from both sides that summer 

planting is ubiquitous and that the risk is not elevated in summer versus any other 

time of year.  (JA 2153) (“Q. Do you have any concerns with moving trees during 

the middle of the summer? A. No, I don’t.  Q. Why not? A. Just because we do a 

lot of it.  We do it and a lot are successful.  I guess you just get a lot of experience 

doing that during the summer.”).  See also JA 2041 (“Container-grown Southern 
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Magnolias can be planted successfully any time of year.”); (JA 818) (“I think that 

there’s certainly no reason that trees can’t be planted successfully year round.”) 

(Testimony of Ruppert Expert, Jeff Schwartz) 

Based on evidence in the record, the Court could also find that Ruppert did 

not violate the CPPA because Galvin was aware of and assumed the risk of 

summer planting based on her prior experience with craning in trees during the 

summer, the knowledge of her personal landscape team about what she claims is 

an obvious risk, which is imputed to her as a matter of law, and/or that Galvin 

further assumed the risk of summer planting by insisting on the July installation 

and then refusing to listen to Ruppert’s project manager discuss the project. All of 

these positions have ample record support and could, individually or in the 

aggregate, sustain the judgment. 

3. Galvin’s Claim that Judge Tunnage Misconstrued 
The CPPA Is Wrong. 

  
Galvin argues that Judge Tunnage erred by evaluating her CPPA claims 

solely by her subjective dissatisfaction rather than by an objective look at the 

obligations the CPPA imposed on Ruppert, which Galvin argues is the only 

permitted perspective.  (App. Br. at 38-39)  But this argument is demonstrably 

false, for two reasons.  First, Pearson makes clear that CPPA violations are not 

“determined solely by the customer, without regard to the facts or any notion of 
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reasonableness.”   Id. at 1075.  Here, however, Galvin argues that only her 

perspective as the customer matters.  (App. Br. at 38-39)   

Second, Judge Tunnage clearly discussed the obligation the CPPA imposes 

on merchants, and noted that Galvin’s own expert witness undermined her 

argument on that point.  (JA 1744) (“Further, with respect to the duty to provide 

warnings that [Galvin] states the CPPA places on merchants [Galvin’s expert, 

[Dahle] testified that what is material risk to trees that must be disclosed to a 

consumer is subject to considerable discretion...”).  Indeed, at trial, when presented 

with a number of threats that he deemed material risks to the long-term health of 

trees (e.g., climate change, wind, flooding, insect infestation, etc.), Dahle conceded 

that landscape professionals have discretion on what to disclose to consumers 

based on the circumstances.  (JA 953) (“Q. And people may have different feelings 

about what constitutes a material risk, correct?  A. I’d have to agree.”). 

In response, Galvin stammers that Dr. Dahle “was not qualified to opine on 

either the materiality of facts to consumers or the CPPA’s requirements.” (App. Br. 

38, fn 54)  But in addition to the fact that Dahle testified that he “worked for seven 

years as...a commercial sales arborist,” and that he sold landscape materials to the 

general public (JA 943), this claim fails because Galvin is arguing that Judge 

Tunnage should not have relied on certain evidence or weighed it as much as he 

did, which is not something an appellate court can review.  Fort Lincoln Civic 
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Ass’n, 944 at 1063.  Indeed, while Galvin’s attorney objected that this testimony 

called for a legal conclusion, Judge Tunnage overruled the objection (JA 953), 

finding that Galvin’s attorney had previously opened the door it by asking similar 

questions.  As such, Judge Tunnage was free to rely on this evidence.  Moreover, 

by failing to seek review on appeal of Judge Tunnage’s decision to overrule the 

objection and allow Dr. Dahle’s testimony on the discretion merchants have, 

Galvin has waived any claim that it should not be in evidence or that Judge 

Tunnage should not have relied on it.  Pazianos v. Schenker, 366 A.2d 440, 444 

(D.C. 1976) (“It is well-settled that an issue not raised by a specific assignment of 

error need not be considered on appeal.”). 

As to Galvin’s complaints that Judge Tunnage mischaracterized her position 

and thereby committed error by stating that “the explicit statement of no warranty

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